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Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

This is a civil penalty proceeding initiated by the
petitioner against the respondent pursuant to section 110(a) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S.C. O
820(a). Petitioner seeks a civil penalty assessnent in the amunt
of $50 for an alleged violation of mandatory reporting standard
30 CF.R 0O50.20(a). The respondent filed a tinmely answer
contesting the alleged violation, and a hearing was held in
Grundy, Virginia. The parties filed posthearing argunments, and
have considered themin nmy adjudication of this matter

| ssues

The issues presented in this proceeding are (1) whether the
respondent has violated the cited standard as alleged in the
proposal for assessnent of civil penalty, and (2) the appropriate
civil penalty that should be assessed for the violation based
upon the civil penalty assessnment criteria found in section
110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised by the parties are
identified and di sposed of in the course of this decision
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Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

=

The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977; Pub
L. 95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(i).
3. 30 CF.R [50.20(a).
4. Comm ssion Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1 et seq.
Sti pul ations
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 5):

1. The respondent is the owner and operator of the
Coronet Jewell Preparation Plant #2, and is subject to
the jurisdiction of the Act.

2. The Commission has jurisdiction in this matter and
the presiding judge has jurisdiction to hear and deci de
this case.

3. A copy of the contested citation was duly served on
the respondent or its agent.

4. The paynent of the proposed civil penalty assessnent
wi Il not adversely affect the respondent's ability to
continue in business.

Di scussi on

The contested section 104(a) non "S&S" Citation No. 3509275,
March 20, 1991, cites an alleged violation of mandatory reporting
regulation 30 C.F. R 0 50.20(a), and the cited condition or
practice states as foll ows:

The operator did not report to MSHA on Form 7000-1 an
occupational illness within ten working days after
being notified of the illness. The operator was
notified in Septenber 1986 and did not report it unti
9-6-88. This citation was issued as the result of a
Part 50 audit.

Petitioner's Testinmny and Evi dence

MSHA Surface M ne Inspector Janes R Snmith testified that he
has inspected the respondent's m ning operations for severa
years, including the No. 2 Preparation plant. He confirmed that
he conducted an "audit type of inspection" of the respondent's
accident, medical, and conpensation reports in March 1991
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Safety Director Gerald Kendrick nade the records avail able, and
M. Smith found a copy of an accident report Form 7000-1
pertaining to mne enpl oyee Wodrow Stacy which reflected that
the conpany had been notified of an accident on Novenber 11
1985, and that M. Kendrick did not report it to MSHA unti
Septenber 6, 1988. (Exhibit P-1; Tr. 11-18).

M. Smith confirmed that he issued the contested citation in
question (Exhibit P-3), citing a violation of section 50.20(a),
because M. Stacy's pneunpconi osis condition was di agnosed on
November 2, 1985, and it was not reported to MSHA until the form
was submitted on Septenber 6, 1988. The regulation required it to
be reported within 10 days of the diagnosis. M. Smth stated
that he discussed the matter with M. Kendrick, and that M.
Kendri ck acknow edged that he was aware of the need to report the
matter in 1986 but that conpany nmanagenent told himto wait unti
the case went to court and was settled. M. Smith confirned that
he based his "high negligence" finding on the fact that 2 years
had past fromthe time the conmpany was first notified and the
time it was reported to MSHA (Tr. 19-22).

On cross-exam nation, M. Smith confirmed that he received
instructions on Part 50 audits fromhis supervisor Larry Worrel
"several years ago", and that he was al so instructed "on al
parts of Part 50" (Tr. 23). M. Smith confirned that he first saw
the formsubnmtted by M. Kendrick during the audit, and he had
no doubt that it was submitted on Septenber 6, 1988. Based on his
construction of the regulation, the report should have been
submitted within 10 days of November 2, 1985. M. Smith confirned
that the citation he issued states that the respondent failed to
report M. Stacy's alleged black Iung condition within ten days
of being notified of the illness, and he believed that the cited
regul ation uses that term He further confirmed that he
interpreted the Novenber 2, 1985, notification date to be the
date of diagnosis of the illness (Tr. 24-28).

MSHA Supervi sory M ne Inspector Larry J. Wirrell testified
that a mine operator nmust retain accident and illness reporting
records for a 5-year period, and he expl ai ned the purpose of an
audit of these records and the procedures followed in conducting
an audit (Tr. 31-37). He confirmed that he was present for part
of the time during M. Snmith's audit for the purpose of
nmonitoring his inspection, and he revi ewed sone of the report
forms to insure that M. Smith was naking the correct decision
with respect to the reporting requirements. M. Wrrrell stated
that M. Smith showed himthe report formsubnitted by M.
Kendrick and he concurred in M. Snith's decision to issue a
citation (Tr. 40).

Based on his review of the report formin question, M.
Worrell agreed with M. Snith's finding of a violation of section
50.20(a). M. Worrell explained that the formreflects
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that the respondent was notified on Novenber 2, 1985, that a

di agnosi s of black lung was delivered to the conmpany on that
date, and it was not reported until Septenber 6, 1988, nore than
the 10 working days required by the regulation (Tr. 41). M.
Worrell agreed with M. Smth's high negligence finding and he
bel i eved that the respondent knew or should have known about the
reporting requirenent and there were no mitigating circunstances
(Tr. 43).

M. Worrell stated that based on his interpretation of the
regul ation, the tine frame within which a nine operator nust
report an illness such as black |ung begins to run on the day the
enpl oyee notifies the operator that he has been di agnosed as
havi ng bl ack lung. He explained further as follows at (Tr.

44-45):

Q And why do you interpret it that way?

A. Well, you can't hold a company responsible---. A guy
a person can make a . . . go to a doctor and have
a x-ray and becone di agnosed, he may not let the
conpany know for two (2) nonths, or three (3) nonths,
or whatever. So they're really not, in my opinion
required to report until they becone aware of this
condition. Now after they becone aware of this
condition, then that's when they have to neet the ten
(10) day reporting requirenents.

On cross-exam nation, M. Wrrell confirmed that regul atory
section 50.20 does not contain the term"notification", and
sinply states that an illness nmust be reported within 10 working
days of the diagnosis (Tr. 48). He confirnmed that the only
circunstances he was aware of to support the high negligence
finding was the "accident" date of Novenber 2, 1985, the fact
that it was not reported until approximately 2 years |later, and
that the respondent knew or shoul d have known about the reporting
requi renent found in section 50.20(a) (Tr. 50).

In response to several hypothetical questions concerning
multiple x-rays and x-ray interpretations, M. Wrrell stated
that a mine operator is obliged to file a report with MSHA "when
the conpany was notified. . . the first notified, the first
di agnosi s of pneunopconi osi s. " or "whenever the conpany is
notified in however manner they want to be . . they are notified,
when it conmes that they have a di agnosis of pneunopconiosis, they
are required to report it" (Tr. 54, 56). He confirmed that he had
no know edge that the respondent ever received a diagnosis of
pneunoconi osis and stated that "lI'mgoing with this 7000-1 that
was submtted to our office" (Tr. 56).

In response to further questions, M. Wrrell stated that
nost m ne operators will state on the MSHA formthat an enpl oyee
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"alleges" an injury or illness until the claimis either settled
or a conpensation award is made. He agreed that section 50.20(a)
does not require an operator to submit a report within 10 days of
notification of an illness or injury, and that the regul ation
only uses the term "diagnosis”". He confirnmed that he did not know
whet her or not M. Stacy presented the respondent with any x-rays
or any diagnosis of his alleged black Iung condition.

M. Worrell believed that Inspector Smith interpreted M.
Stacy's allegation that he had black lung to be a diagnosis. M.
Worrell identified a copy of a report which was sent to the
Virginia Industrial Comm ssion and which was in the mne file
reviewed by M. Smith during his audit (Exhibit P-4). M. Wrrel
stated that he was with M. Smth when he reviewed the file and
that the respondent nade a copy of the report for him M.

Worrell explained that this formis filed by the conmpany with the
state conpensati on conm ssion and that it was in the conpany file
with the MSHA 7000-1 form (Tr. 62-63). The report reflects that

it was submitted on February 23, 1987, and it states that M.
Stacy all eged that he contacted pneunoconiosis (Tr. 64).

Respondent's Testinmony and Evi dence

M chael G Prater testified that he is enployed by the
respondent and serves as the manager of workers' compensation
conpl i ance and assessnment officer, and personnel officer. He
confirmed that he was aware of M. Stacy's conpensation claim
filed against the respondent alleging that he had received a
di agnosi s of an occupational disease (Tr. 82). He confirmed that
he received a copy of a hearing application (Exhibit P-5) filed
by M. Stacy with the Industrial Comr ssion of Virginia in
connection with his black lung claim The docunent was nmail ed on
April 25, 1986. He obtained the Novermber 2, 1985, date fromthat
docunent and used it when he filed reports with MSHA and the
state agency (Exhibits P-1 and P-4; 83-84).

M. Prater confirmed that the letter he received fromthe
Virginia Industrial Conm ssion, dated April 25, 1986, was the
first notice he received that M. Stacy was all eging that he had
recei ved a diagnosis of an occupational |ung disease (Tr. 85).
M. Prater stated that he never received the x-ray fil mupon
which M. Stacy's claimwas based, but he did receive copies of
two interpretation reports fromtwo doctors which were included
with the copy of the hearing application and |letter received from
the Virginia Industrial Comm ssion (Exhibits P-5 through P-7; Tr.
86-87). M. Prater further confirned that he requested M.
Stacy's chest x-ray fromhis attorney, but was advised that the
filmhad been | ost and he was never able to obtain it (Tr. 88).
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M. Prater stated that he received another x-ray filmof M.
Stacy in Septenber, 1986, and he identified a copy of the
radi ol ogy report dated Septenber 30, 1986, interpreting that film
(Exhibit R-1; Tr. 90). He confirmed that he had requested the
doctor to read the x-ray and give hima report. He further
confirmed that 10 additional doctors were asked to review the
filmand to give the respondent their reports, and he produced
copies of those reports fromhis files (Exhibit R-3; Tr. 92-93).
M. Prater stated that M. Stacy's claimwas schedul ed for a
hearing on August 31, 1988, before the Virginia Industria
Commi ssion, but a settlenent was reached with M. Stacy on August
31, 1988, and it was ultimately approved by the Commi ssion on
Septenber 19, 1988 (Exhibit P-8; Tr. 94-95).

M. Prater stated that after M. Stacy's claimwas settl ed,
he sent a Form 7000-1 and the state "First Report of Accident"
formto safety director Gerald Kendrick and told himthat since
M. Stacy's claimhad been settled a report needed to be filed
with MSHA (Exhibits P-1, P-4, Tr. 96). M. Prater confirmed that
he al ways handl ed the reporting of alleged di agnoses of
occupational illnesses to MSHA in this sane way in the past, and
he explained his usual practice in this regard (Tr. 96-98). He
stated that the respondent has never considered a di sease or
illness to be reportable to MSHA until such tine that a decision
is received fromthe Industrial Comm ssion of Virginia, and this
is what was done in M. Stacy's case (Tr. 99).

M. Prater stated that he receives approximtely twenty to
forty state occupational disease clains a year. He confirmed that
there were 20 interpretations or readings nmade of the x-ray film
actually received in M. Stacy's case, and three of them were
l ost (Tr. 100).

On cross-exam nation, M. Prater confirned that respondent's
practice has been to wait for the state disposition of a
conpensati on claimbefore reporting an occupational incident to
MSHA (Tr. 100). He further explained his position as follows at
(Tr. 101-102):

Q And you have a background in health?

A. Yes, ma'am

Q In your opinion, do you think that a judicia
deci sion or settlenent agreenent could ever be
consi dered a di agnosi s?

A Well, | think that a judicial . . . well

considering the difference in opinion as to black |ung
di agnosis, | think it's as good as any.
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Q You think that you could call a judicial decision or
settlenent a diagnosis?

A. | could say that the judge that. . . that rules on
these clai ms has an understandi ng and has a know edge
of black lung as good as anybody and he coul d take
before hi mreadi ngs, x-ray readings, fromso called, or
what ever, B-readers, and he could make a determni nation
as to where the preponderance of that evidence |ies,
and that's exactly what we rely on

Q Are you saying that you think a judge can make a
di agnosi s?

A I . . . 1 . . . they doin the State of Virginia.
mean, not a diagnosis, but they nake a decision as to
whet her or not a man has bl ack | ung.

Q So the judge is not meking a diagnosis, is he?
A. No. No, he's not.

M. Prater conceded that regulatory section 50.20, refers to
a diagnosis of occupational injury or illness and does not refer
to any judicial decisions or settlenents (Tr. 102). He al so
confirmed that the regul ation does not further define the term
"di agnosis" (Tr. 103). He believed that he was foll ow ng the
correct procedure in this case, and he stated that "the way we
interpreted it to mean was when you got a decisive decision as to
whet her or not a man had a di sease or diagnosis was when we
reported it" (Tr. 104). M. Prater confirmed that as of the
|atter part of April, 1986, he was aware of M. Stacy's state
application for a hearing and the x-ray interpretations nmade by
two doctors (Tr. 110).

Gerald E. Kendrick, respondent's coordi nator of health and
safety, stated that one of his responsibilities is to file MSHA
report Form 7000-1. He stated that he prepared the MSHA Form
7000-1 (Exhibit P-1), fromthe information provided on the state
First Report of Accident (Exhibit P-4). He confirned that these
forms were sent to himby M. Prater, with a note attached, on
August 31, 1988, and that prior to this tine he was not aware of
any allegation or diagnosis that M. Stacy had an occupati ona
lung di sease (Tr. 115-116).

M. Kendrick stated that he gave M. Stacy's file to
Inspector Smith during the audit in question and he expl ai ned his
di scussion with M. Smith as follows at (Tr. 117-118):

A. Wth this, he asked me if | was aware of what the
regul ati ons required, that pneunpconiosis be reported,
clainms . . . not clains, but people with pneunpconi osis
be
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reported, and | told himthat I did. And if in fact that
this gentlenmen had pneunpconiosis in 1986, then it
probably shoul d have been reported. So then | said,
"But in the neantime, Gary Prater handles all the
conpensation clains and I'lIl |let himcome down and
explain that to you." So Gary cane to our office and
expl ai ned the conpensation case with himand M. Wrrell

Q Okay. Let me ask you . . . there's been . . . did
you ever indicate to M. Smith that you . . . uh . .
were aware, or that it was your interpretation of that
regul ation that you had to report this injury . . . or

this within ten (10) days of learning of the man's
claim or within ten (10) days of the diagnosis, but
that you had been instructed to do otherw se by
managenent ?

A. That's a good question. | don't renenber
specifically what was said. | don't recall . . . |

don't recall discussing that with him no. The only
thing | do recall is that we were tal king about this

bl ack lung claimand . . . uh . . . | what |I referred
to himwas that | thought that all confirmed black |ung
cases should be reported. And in those cases, when they
were confirmed was when Gary and themtook themto
court, or settled them or whatever the case may be

wi th the Conmi ssion.

On cross-exam nation, M. Kendrick stated that his purported
statenment to Inspector Smith that he was aware of the need to
report M. Stacy's alleged black lung condition in 1986 was taken

out of context. M. Kendrick explained that "I did nake a
statement that | was aware that black lung case are to be
reported . . . confirmed. That was ny understandi ng with what the

regul ati ons say, or aware of conpensation had been made" (Tr.
119). He stated that he woul d not have known about M. Stacy's
conditions in 1986 because he did not receive the report from M.
Prater until 1988, which was the first time he saw a report on a
bl ack lung case. He believed that the "date of injury" date of
Novenber 2, 1985, shown on the report form was inappropriate,

and that the date on which an illness or injury is totally
confirmed shoul d be used because "about any doctor in this county
will, and in nost cases have di agnosed people with black |lung and

they never had it" (Tr. 121). M. Kendrick agreed that the
November 2, 1985, x-ray report would be the date of diagnosis
(Tr. 121).

Petitioner's Argunents

Petitioner states that in the course of an audit conducted
on March 20, 1991, MSHA Inspector Smith and his supervisor
I nspector Worrell, net with the respondent's safety coordi nator
Kendrick who provided themw th the necessary mine reporting
files. The inspectors began checking the respondent's records
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agai nst MSHA's records, to confirmthat it had reported al
reportable injuries and illnesses of which the respondent was
aware during the audit period. Wile exam ng these records,

I nspector Smith discovered an MSHA 7000-1 report formthat had
been conpleted by M. Kendrick (Exhibit P-1). The subject of this
formwas mne enpl oyee Wiodrow Stacy who had filed a state

wor kers conpensation claimfor pneunoconiosis. The form caught
the inspector's attention because the "date of accident"”
(illness) indicated was Novenber 2, 1985, the date of the first
Xx-ray report that stated that M. Stacy had pneunobconiosis, and
M. Kendrick had not conpleted the formuntil nearly three years
| ater, on Septenber 6, 1988. The inspector was aware that section
50.20(a), required the formto be filed with MSHA within 10
wor ki ng days after an operator has been notified that an
occupational illness has been diagnosed. MSHA points out that

al t hough section 50.20(a) appears to require reporting within 10
days of a diagnosis, the inspectors testified that MSHA requires
that an operator report an occupational illness within 10 days of
beconm ng aware of such a diagnosis, and that Inspector Wrrel
testified that it would be unreasonable to attenpt to hold an
operator |iable for not reporting a diagnosis of which it is
unawar e

The petitioner asserts that M. Kendrick confirmed that the
required report formhad not been filed with MSHA within ten days
after the conmpany becane aware of M. Stacy's diagnosis, and that
it was the conpany's practice to wait until an enpl oyee had filed
a state worker's compensation claimfor pneunpconiosis, and the
conpany either had lost or settled the case, before the conpany
would file a report with MSHA. In addition, petitioner points out
that the inspectors also found in the conmpany's files a note
attached to an Industrial Conm ssion report regarding M. Stacy
fromM. Prater to M. Kendrick directing himto "please file
accident report on this OD. claimas it was settled on 8/31/88"
(Exhibit P-4). Petitioner concludes that this confirmed for the
i nspectors the conpany's practice to wait nore than 10 days after
being notified of an occupational disease di agnosis before filing
a report with MSHA. Under all of these circunstances, the
i nspectors concluded that a violation of section 50.20 had
occurred, and although they did not know the exact date on which
the respondent had been notified of the diagnosis, it was obvious
to the inspectors that nore than 10 days had el apsed between the
date on which the conpany was notified of the diagnosis, and the
date on which it filled out the form

The petitioner cites the hearing testinony of the
respondent's worker's conpensation specialist Prater verifying
that the respondent was aware, well before Septenber 6, 1988,
that a doctor had determi ned that M. Stacy had pneunoconi osi s,
Petitioner states that M. Prater confirnmed that the respondent
received a letter dated April 25, 1986, fromthe Virginia
I ndustrial Commr ssion notifying the respondent that M. Stacy had
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filed a claimfor worker's conpensati on and had requested a
hearing, and that included with the letter were two Xx-ray reading
reports fromtwo doctors (Ermaz and Fisher), of M. Stacy's x-ray
film The reading by Dr. Ermaz was of the film dated Novenber 2,
1985, and the reading by Dr. Fisher was a March 13, 1986,
rereadi ng of the Novenber 2, 1985, film |In both instances, the
doctor's reported that M. Stacy had pneunpconi osis. Under these
circunstances, the petitioner concludes that there is no question
that the respondent was notified in April 1986, that M. Stacy
had pneunpconi osi s.

The petitioner asserts that after proceeding to defend
against M. Stacy's conpensation claim a settlenment was reached
on August 31, 1988, (Exhibit P-8), and M. Prater instructed M.
Kendrick to report the diagnosis of pneunbconiosis to MSHA. M.
Prater filled out the formon Septenber 6, 1988, and filled in
the date of Novenber 2, 1985, in the space provided as the "date
of accident", which is the date of the first x-ray report
concluding that M. Stacy had pneunpconi osi s.

The petitioner points out that section 50.20 provides that
if an occupational illness is diagnhosed as one of those listed in
section 50.20-6(b)(7), it nust be reported to MSHA. Since
pneunoconiosis is listed as an occupational disease, it nust be
reported. The petitioner argues that the definition of
"occupational illness" found in section 50.2(f), does not help
the respondent's case. "Occupational illness" is defined as "an
illness or disease of a m ner which nay have resulted from work
at a mine or for which an award of conpensation is nmade". The
petitioner concludes that it is clear that whenever either of
t hese factors occurs--an enpl oyee has an illness which may have
resulted fromwork at a mne, or, an award of conpensation is
made- - an operator nust report the existence of a diagnosis to
MSHA. The petitioner points out that if the regulations had
defined occupational illness as "an illness or disease of a m ner
whi ch may have resulted fromwrk at a nmine and for which an
award of conpensation is nmade", then the respondent woul d be
justified in waiting for the outcone of a state claimbefore
reporting. However, on the facts of this case, once the
respondent was aware that M. Stacy had been di agnhosed with
pneunoconi osis, a disease that clearly may have arisen from work
inamne, it did not have the option of waiting for severa
years for M. Stacy's conpensation claimto be resolved before
reporting to MSHA

Citing a dictionary definition of the term "diagnosis", the
petitioner maintains that there is no doubt that each of the
X-ray reports that the respondent received in April 1986,
constitutes a diagnosis of pneunpconiosis. The petitioner points
out that a diagnosis is not necessarily a declaration that has
been proven definitively, but rather, a diagnosis is a statenent
made in the process of determ ning the nature of a disorder



~1418

Petitioner concludes that the possibility that another doctor
subsequent|ly coul d conclude that a patient does not in fact have
pneunpoconi osi s does not negate the fact that an earlier statenent
concl udi ng that the patient does have the disease is a diagnosis.
In any event, petitioner points out that the respondent's

Wi t nesses have not denied that the x-ray reports received in
April 1986 are di agnoses of pneunpbconiosis, and that M. Prater
made it clear in his request for a civil penalty conference that
he views the two x-ray reports as di agnoses of pneunpconi osi s,
and stated that "Jewel|l Snpokel ess does not feel that this

citation is justified because a diagnosis of an illness wthout
an award of conpensation fromthe Industrial Comm ssion, is not
proof of illness."” (Exhibit P-10). Petitioner concludes that it

appears that the respondent does not dispute that the x-ray
reports are diagnoses of pneunpconiosis; but rather, the
respondent does not feel that it should be required to report a
di agnosi s.

The petitioner maintains that section 50.20(a) specifically
provi des that operators must report each occupational illness
that is diagnosed, and that there is no regulatory basis for the
respondent's practice of waiting for the outcone of a state
wor ker's conpensati on case before decidi ng whether or not to
report such an illness to MSHA. The petitioner points out that
M. Prather testified that he is aware that a judge does not nake
a diagnosis, and that the regul ati ons say nothi ng about reporting
to MSHA each tinme that a state worker's conpensati on board
decides that a claimant is entitled to an award of conpensation
or each time that a conpany decides to settle a case with an

enpl oyee.

Finally, the petitioner maintains that the respondent's
stated reporting practice fails to advance MSHA's interest in
collecting full and current information on the occurrence of
pneunoconi osis. I n response to the respondent's argunment that it
shoul d be presented with nore proof of pneunpconiosis before it
shoul d be required to file a report with MSHA, the petitioner
poi nts out that the respondent del ayed reporting until after M.
Stacy obtained a worker's conpensation settlenent, which is not a
definitive statenent that an enpl oyee has an occupati ona
di sease, and thus del ayed reporting a diagnosis of pneunopconiosis
for approximately 2 years, in violation of the regulations, for
no valid reason. In response to M. Prater's testinony that the
respondent would not report a diagnhosis of pneunpconi osis unless
an enployee had filed a state claim the petitioner points out
that in practice, not every miner who obtains an X-ray reading
di agnosi ng pneunoconiosis files a claimfor conpensation. Under
the circunstances, the respondent's reporting nethod, if allowed
to continue, would result in underreporting of pneunobconi osis.
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Respondent's Argunents

In support of its case, the respondent states that this
proceedi ng began when Wodrow Stacy, one of its enployees,
al |l eged that he had been given a diagnosis of an occupationa
| ung di sease on Novenber 2, 1985, and in April of 1986, filed a
claimwi th the Industrial Conm ssion of Virginia alleging
occupational lung di sease. The chest X-ray upon which M. Stacy's
al | eged di agnosi s was based was | ost, and M. Stacy all egedly had
anot her chest X-ray made on Septenber 12, 1986, which was
initially read as showi ng no evidence of an occupational |ung
di sease (R-1). The Septenber 12, 1986, chest X-ray was
i nterpreted by numerous physicians, nost of whom were of the
opi nion that the X-ray showed no evidence of an occupational |ung
di sease (R-3). Nevertheless, the respondent settled the claimin
which M. Stacy was alleging that he had contracted an
occupational lung disease in order to avoid further litigation
and followi ng that settlenment reported to MSHA on Septenber 6,
1988, the fact that M. Stacy had alleged that he had contracted
coal worker's pneunoconiosis. Two and one-half years later, while
performng an audit, Inspector Smith found a copy of the Form
7000-1 in the respondent's mne records and issued the contested
vi ol ation on the ground that the respondent had failed to report
an occupational illness within 10 worki ng days after being
notified of the illness.

The respondent asserts that according to its interpretation
of the reporting requirenents of sections 50.20 and 50.20-6, in a
situation where an enpl oyee has filed a claimfor nonetary
benefits under the Worker's Conpensation Act based on an
al | egation of a diagnosis of an occupational |ung disease, its
obl i gation and past practice has been to report the claimto MSHA
after it is either settled by the claimant and the operator or
the State Industrial Comm ssion finds that the evidence supports
the claimof an occupational disease. Consistent with this
interpretation, the respondent maintains that M. Stacy's
al l egati on of an occupational [ung di sease was reported to MSHA
on Septenber 6, 1988, in a tinmely fashion within 10 days of the
conprom se settlement reached on August 31, 1988, and the Order
of the Commi ssion approving the settlenent.

The respondent argues that since the cited reporting
regul ation is penal in nature, it should be strictly construed
agai nst MSHA, and that the issuance of the citation two and 1-1/2
years following the filing of its Septenmber 6, 1988, report nmkes
it alnost inpossible to determ ne the constructi on MSHA pl aced on
the regul ations at the time the violation was issued. The
respondent points out that the violation was issued because it
all egedly was notified of M. Stacy's occupational illness in
Sept enber, 1986, and did not report it until Septenber of 1988.
The respondent further points to the testinony of Inspector Smith
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that based of his interpretation of section 50.20(a), the
respondent was required to report to MSHA on or before Novenber
12, 1985, 10 days after the Novenber 2, 1985, date of the
"Accident” (lllness), shown in item#6 of the MSHA reporting form
subm tted by safety director Kendrick (Exhibit P-1).

The respondent concl udes that MSHA does not rely on a
literal interpretation of section 50.20(a). The respondent points
out that M. Stacy alleged that he had received a diagnhosis of an
occupational di sease on Novenber 2, 1985. Since it is
uncontradi cted that the respondent was unaware of the all eged

di agnosis until late April or early My, 1986, respondent
concludes that a literal application of the regulation would make
it inpossible for it to have reported the occupational illness

within 10 days of the alleged diagnosis.

The respondent further concludes that the only way for a
violation to materialize out of the regul ations and circunstances
of this case is for MSHA to read into the regulation a notice
requi rement. In support of this conclusion, the respondent
asserts that even though the regul ati on does not require it to
take any reporting action based on notification, Inspectors Smth
and Worrell have interpreted it that way, but the respondent has
not .

In response to Inspector Worrell's suggestion that the
purpose of the cited reporting requirenent is "to give MSHA a
handl e on how many illnesses and injuries are happening in the
coal industry", the respondent asserts that no explanation is
offered as to how an interpretation that requires the reporting
of a notification of alleged diagnoses of occupational |ung
di seases helps in attaining that goal. Respondent concludes that
the reporting of diagnoses of alleged occupational |ung di seases
could result in nothing but badly skewed "factual" data, and it
subnmits that the information that is actually sought by the
regul ation is how many injuries or illnesses occur, and not how
many enpl oyees allege that a doctor has given them a diagnosis of
an occupational |lung disease or how many doctors have allegedly
gi ven enpl oyees di agnoses of occupational |ung di seases, wi thout
regard to the actual existence or non-existence of the disease
process.

Finally, the respondent maintains that there is no
reportabl e occupational illness under the circunmstances of a
claimsuch as M. Stacy's (where an enpl oyee is seeking nonetary
benefits based upon allegations that he has an occupational |ung
di sease) until the conclusion of the conpensation claimeither by
settlenent or the entry of an award finding that the clai mant
does have an occupational disease. The respondent suggests that
there is no reportable occurrence if an enployee has no
occupational disease, or it is found that he has no occupationa
di sease. Further, if as suggested by MSHA, the alleged diagnosis
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of an occupational disease by virtue of an alleged interpretation
of a chest X-ray consistent with an occupational disease is al
that is required to trigger the reporting requirements, then on
he facts of M. Stacy's claim respondent concludes that it was

i npossible for it to conply with the regulatory reporting time
requi renents, and in either event, the violation should be

vacat ed.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

The respondent is charged with an alleged violation of the
reporting requirements found in 30 C.F. R 0O 50.20(a), which
states in relevant part as foll ows:

Each operator shall maintain at the mne office a
supply of MSHA M ne Accident, Injury, and ||l ness
Report Form 7000-1 . . . . Each operator shall report
each . . . occupational illness at the m ne. The
principal officer in charge of health and safety at the
m ne or the supervisor of the mine area in which .
an occupational illness may have originated, shal
conplete or review the formin accordance with the
instructions and criteria in sections 50.20-1 through
50.20-7. If an occupational illness is diagnhosed as
bei ng one of those listed in section 50.20-6(b)(7), the
operator nust report it under this part. The operator
shall mail conmpleted forns to MSHA within 10 worki ngs
days after . . . an occupational illness is diagnosed
(Emphasi s added).

Section 50.20-6(b)(7)(ii) states the criteria and
i nstructions for conpleting MSHA Form 7000-1, and reporting an
occupational illness, and it states in relevant part as foll ows:

(7) Item 23. Cccupational Illness. Circle the code from
the |list below which nost accurately describes the
illness. These are typical exanples and are not to be
consi dered the conplete listing of the types of
illnesses and disorders that should be included under
each category. In cases where the time of onset of
illness is in doubt, the day of diagnosis of illness
will be considered as the first day of illness.

* * * *

(ii) Code 22-Dust Disease of the Lungs
(Pneunoconi oses). Exanples: Silicosis, asbestosis, coa
wor ker' s pneunoconi osi s, and other pneunopconi oses.

In the course of pretrial discovery in this matter, the
petitioner provided the respondent with a copy of an MSHA Policy
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Letter No. P92-111-2, effective May 6, 1992, after the date of

t he i ssuance of the contested citation, clarifying the Part 50
"silicosis or other pneunoconi oses” reporting policy. The letter
states in relevant part as foll ows:

Di agnosi s of an occupational illness or di sease under
Part 50 does not automatically nmean a disability or

i mpai rment for which the miner is eligible for
conpensati on, nor does the Agency intend for an
operator's conpliance with Part 50 to be equated with
an admi ssion of liability for the reported illness or
di sease. MSHA views a disability as distinguishable
froma diagnosis of silicosis or other pneunopconi oses
in that a diagnosis would be reportable to MSHA if
there is evidence of exposure coupled with an X-ray
readi ng of 1/0 or above, using the International Labor
Ofice (ILO classification system. . . (Enphasis
added)

MSHA' s position is that any nedical diagnosis of a dust
di sease or illness nmust be reported under 30 C.F.R
part 50 reporting procedures. A nedical diagnosis my
be made by a miner's personal physician, enployer's
physi ci an, or a nedical expert.

If a chest x-ray for a miner with a history of exposure
to silica or other pneunpconi oses causing dusts is
rated at 1/0 of above, utilizing the ILO classification
system it is MSHA's policy that such a finding is a

di agnosi s of an occupational illness, in the nature of
silicosis or other pneunpconi oses within the neaning of
30 CF.R Part 50 and, consequently, reportable to
VSHA.

MSHA Program Policy Information Bulletin No. 87-4C and
87-2M al so produced during pretrial discovery, dated August 31
1987, states in relevant part as follows:

Title 30, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 50 requires

m ne operators to report occupational illnesses of
mners. A mner is defined as "any individual working
in a mne," and occupational illness is defined as "an

illness or disease which may have resulted fromwork at
a mne or for which an award of conpensation is nade."
Il nesses that are reportable include . . . coal

wor ker' s pneunoconi osis (black lung), . . . Part 50
further requires that the operator mail a conpleted
Form 7000-1 to the M ne Safety and Health

Adm ni stration (MSHA) within 10 working days after a

m ner is diagnosed as having an occupational illness.
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Industry reporting activity for occupational illness
suggests there is operator uncertainty about the
rel ati onship between Part 50 reporting obligations
and the information provided to the operator through
Federal and State occupational illness conpensation
prograns.

In order to ensure that data reported by mne operators
reflects the incidence of occupational illnesses

associ ated with the mning industry, the reporting
requi renents of Part 50 apply when conpensati on
programs provide an operator notice that an individua
has been awarded conpensation for or is diagnosed as
havi ng an occupational illness resulting from
enploynment in a mne, regardl ess of whether the

i ndividual is currently working as a miner. Thus within
10 days of beconi ng aware of any such conpensation
award or diagnosis, the operator must report the
occurrence by conpleting and mailing a Form 7000-1 to
MSHA. (Enphasi s added)

Section 50.20(a) requires the reporting of an "occupati ona
illness". As defined by section 50.2(f), an "occupationa

illness" is an illness or disease (1) which nay have resulted
fromwork at a mne, or (2) for which an award of conpensation is
made. |If such an occupational illness or disease is diagnosed as

one of those listed in 50.20-6(b)(7), section 50.20(a) requires
that it be reported to MSHA on Report Form 7000-1. Coal worker's
pneunpoconi osis (black lung) is anong those listed illnesses or

di seases which nust be reported. The time frame for reporting a
di agnosed case of black lung is within 10 days of the diagnosis.

On the facts of this case, the respondent apparently views
its conpromise settlenent of M. Stacy's black |lung conpensation
claimas an "award of conpensation", and it relies on the "award
of conpensation" definition found in section 50.2(f), to support
its belief that it was only obliged to file a report with MSHA
after that award (conpronise settlenent) was approved and nmade
However, section 50.20(a) provides no tine franme for the
reporting of black |ung conpensation awards, nor does it contain
any | anguage which directly, or by reasonable inference, permts
a mne operator to wait until such an award i s nmade before
reporting to MSHA

The regul atory tinme frame for reporting a diagnosed bl ack
lung illness or disease is within 10 worki ng days after such a
condition is diagnosed. Although it is true that it would have
been i mpossi ble for the respondent to have reported M. Stacy's
bl ack Iung di agnosis of Novenber 5, 1985, within 10 working days
because it did not becone aware of it until 1986, | take note of
the fact that the respondent is charged with a violation for its
failure to report M. Stacy's illness when it received



~1424
notification of a black lung diagnosis in Septenmber, 1986, and
not when the initial diagnosis was made on Novenber 2, 1985.

The respondent is correct in its assertion that the
i nspectors read a notification requirenment into the reporting
| anguage found in section 50.20(a). The inspectors both confirnmed
that they had al ways construed the 10 days reporting tinme frane
to begin when a nine operator is notified that an enpl oyee has
bl ack lung or has been di agnosed as having that disease (Tr. 26,
28, 41). The inspectors' interpretation and application of the
reporting time frane is consistent with MSHA's Part 50 Policy
Letter of August 31, 1987, which states that an operator nust
report to MSHA within 10 days of becom ng aware of a conpensation
award for black lung or a diagnosis of black |ung.

The fact that section 50.20(a) does not, on its face, inpose
a reporting requirement based on notification to a m ne operator
that an enpl oyee has been di agnosed as having bl ack | ung does not
in my view warrant vacation of the contested citation in this

case. | find MSHA's policy application, as stated in its August
31, 1987, policy bulletin, requiring an operator to report an
occupational illness diagnosis within 10 days of becom ng aware

of such a diagnosis, and the inspector's simlar interpretation
and practice, to be reasonable. If it were otherwi se, a mne
operator would be placed in the rather arbitrary and untenabl e
position of being held accountable for a reportable illness

di agnosi s whi ch may never have been brought to its attention.

The respondent's suggestion that it is only required to
report a proven case of black lung disease is rejected. | also
reject the respondent’'s assertion that since M. Stacy was
seeki ng nonetary benefits based on his allegation that he was
di agnosed as having black |ung disease, its reporting obligation
pursuant to section 50.20(a) would only begin when M. Stacy's
conpensation claimis either concluded by a settlenment of his
claimor he is awarded conpensati on based on a finding that he in
fact had bl ack |ung.

I conclude and find that M. Stacy's diagnosis of black |ung
was in connection with a di sease which one may reasonably
conclude may have resulted fromhis work at a mne. The
respondent does not dispute the fact that M. Stacy was one of
its mne enployees, and M. Prater the respondent's nmmnager of
wor ker's conpensati on, acknow edged that he filed a report with
the State of Virginia on February 23, 1987, which states that M.
Stacy "alleges to have contracted coal workers pneunopconi osis
whi | e enpl oyed at Jewel| Snokel ess Coal Corp." (Tr. 83; exhibit
P-4). M. Prater also confirned that he was aware at the tine
that report was filed that M. Stacy had supplied some evidence
that he had black lung disease (Tr. 85).
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M. Prater confirned that in late April, 1986, he was nmade aware
of M. Stacy's black lung claim and the supporting x-ray reports
of his doctors (Eryilmz and Fisher) (Tr. 85-87; 110; Exhibits
P-5 through P-7). M. Prater further confirmed that after
learning from M. Stacy's attorney that the original x-ray film
of Novenber 2, 1985, had been lost, another x-ray filmwas sent
to himor to the respondent's attorney on Septenber 12, 1986.
That filmwas reviewed by several doctors for the respondent, as
well as M. Stacy's doctors, and followi ng the subnission of al
of this evidence M. Stacy's claimwas scheduled for a state
heari ng on August 31, 1988. However, the claimwas settled, and
the matter never proceeded to hearing (Tr. 89-92; 94-95; Exhibits
R-1 and R-3). Notwi thstanding the conflicting doctor's
interpretations of M. Stacy's x-rays, | conclude and find that
the readi ngs nade by M. Stacy's doctors in support of his claim
constituted di agnoses of pneunpconiosis within the neaning of
section 50.20(a).

I am not convinced that the respondent was ignorant or
confused about its reporting obligations pursuant to section
50.20(a). M. Prater, the respondent’'s manager of worker's
conpensation, was aware of M. Stacy's conpensation claimfiled
agai nst the respondent alleging that he had received a di agnosi s
of an occupational disease (Tr. 82). M. Prater did not assert
that he was unaware of the regulatory |anguage of section
50.20(a) requiring a report to MSHA within 10 worki ng days of a
di agnosi s of an occupational illness. H's contention is that he
was not aware of M. Stacy's diagnosis until it cane to his
attention in 1986, and he relied on his practice of not reporting
an all eged di agnosis of an occupational illness until such tinme
that a definitive decision is forthcomng fromthe state
i ndustrial conm ssion uphol ding a conpensati on award.

M. Kendrick, the conpany official responsible for filing
the MSHA Report Form 7000-1, acknow edged that the Novenber 2,
1985, "date of injury" shown on the state workers conpensation
report, and on the MSHA report which he submitted, would be
consi dered the date of diagnosis (Tr. 121; Exhibits P-1 and P-4).

I nspector Smith's testinmony that M. Kendrick acknow edged
at the tinme of the audit that he was aware of the need to report
M. Stacy's alleged black |ung diagnosis in 1986, but was told by
conpany managenent to wait until the matter went to court and was
settled before reporting it to MSHA, is nmenorialized in his
i nspection notes nade at the time of his audit.

M. Kendrick nade no notes of his conversation with M.
Smith at the time of the audit. M. Kendrick testified on direct
exam nation that he had no specific recollection of what was said
during the conversation, and that he could not recall discussing
the need to report within 10 days of |earning about M. Stacy's
black lung claimor within 10 days of the diagnosis.
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M. Kendrick recalled that he told M. Snmith that he thought that
all confirmed cases of black lung which went to court, were
settled, or were filed with the state conm ssion, should be
reported. He further contended that his purported statement that
he was aware that a report was required to be made in 1986, was
taken out of context, and that it was his understanding that
MSHA' s regul ations required the reporting of confirmed cases of
bl ack lung or black lung cases in which conpensati on awards have
been nmade. M. Kendrick also testified that he told M. Smith
that if M. Stacy had pneunpconiosis in 1986, "it probably should
have been reported" (Tr. 115-116).

M. Kendrick did not contend that he was ignorant of the
regul atory requirement found in section 50.20(a) requiring the
reporting of a black lung diagnosis to MSHA within 10 worKki ng
days. His defense, like M. Prater's, is that only proven cases
of black Iung need be reported to MSHA. Even though M. Kendrick
agreed that the initial Novenber 2, 1985, x-ray reports
concerning M. Stacy would be considered the date of diagnosis,
he took a contrary position when he contended that this date was
"inappropriate", and that only the date on which an illness is
"totally confirmed" should be used for reporting purposes.

Havi ng viewed the witnesses in the course of the hearing,
and after careful scrutiny of the testinony of M. Smith and M.
Kendrick, | find M. Smith's testinony to be nore credi ble, and
find M. Kendrick's testinmny to be rather equivocal and
unconvi nci ng. As the responsible reporting conpany official, M.
Kendrick is charged with the responsibility of famliarizing
hinself with the | anguage found in section 50.20(a), particularly
the requirenent for reporting diagnosed cases of occupationa

illnesses to MSHA within 10 worki ng days. | cannot concl ude that
M. Kendrick was oblivious of this requirenent. | believe that
he, like M. Parater, erroneously interpreted section 50.20(a),

to require only the reporting of proven cases of black |ung.

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usions, and after
careful consideration of all of the evidence in this case,
i ncludi ng the argunments advanced by the parties with respect to
the interpretation and application of the reporting requirenent
of section 50.20(a), | conclude and find that the petitioner's
position is correct. | also conclude and find that the petitioner
has established by a preponderance of all of the credible and
probative evidence in this case that the respondent failed to
timely report M. Stacy's diagnosed case of black lung within 10
wor ki ng days after being notified of that diagnosis in Septenber
1986. Under the circunstances, | further conclude and find that
the petitioner has established a violation of the cited reporting
standard found at 30 C. F. R 50.20(a). Accordingly, the contested
citation IS AFFI RVED.
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Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty Assessnent on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

The petitioner presented no additional evidence with respect
to the size of the respondent’'s nining operation. However, a copy
of the proposed assessnent pleading (MSHA Form 1000-179) reflects
that the respondent's total 1990 coal production was 23, 317, 212
tons, and that the subject preparation plant had no coa
production. | conclude and find that the respondent is a |arge
m ne operator, and the parties have stipulated that the paynent
of the proposed civil penalty assessnment for the violation in
question will not adversely affect the respondent's ability to
continue in business.

Hi story of Prior Violations

An MSHA conputer print-out (Exhibit P-9), reflects that for
the period March 20, 1989 to March 19, 1991, the respondent paid
civil penalty assessnents for fifteen (15) violations issued at
the subject preparation plant. None of these prior violations
concerned reporting violations. The petitioner's assertion at
page 12 of its brief that the respondent's history of prior
violations is "noderately high" |I'S REJECTED. For an operation of
its size, | cannot conclude that the evidence presented by the
petitioner supports any conclusion of a "nmoderately high" history
of prior violations. In any event, | conclude and find that the
respondent has a good conpliance record and | have taken this
into consideration in assessing the civil penalty for the
vi ol ati on whi ch has been affirnmed.

Gavity

The inspector found that the violation was non-"S&S", and in
the absence of any evidence to the contrary, | conclude and find
that it was non-serious,

Good Faith Compliance

The petitioner concedes that the respondent denonstrated
good faith in abating the violation within the tinme constraints
set by the inspector (Posthearing brief, pg. 12). | agree, and |
have taken this into consideration in this case.

Negl i gence

I nspector Smith's "high negligence" finding was based on his
belief that the respondent was aware of the reporting
requi rements found in section 50.20(a), but waited approximtely
2 years after being notified of M. Stacy's black |ung di agnosi s
before reporting it to MSHA (Tr. 21-22). Supervisory |Inspector
Worrell concurred with M. Smith's finding, and he stated that
the respondent knew or shoul d have known about the reporting
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requi renents, and in the absence of any nitigating circunstances,
M. Smith was required to find "high negligence" (Tr. 43, 50).

In a recently deci ded case, Consolidation Coal Conpany, 14
FMSHRC 956 (June 1992), the Commi ssion affirmed Chief Judge
Merlin's decision affirmng several reporting violations issued
pursuant to 30 CF. R 0O 50.30-1(g)(3). The Conmi ssion al so
affirmed Judge Merlin's "high" negligence findings,
notwi thstanding its recognition of the anbi guous | anguage of the
cited standard, and it quoted with approval the follow ng
concl usi on by Judge Merlin at 12 FMSHRC 1146, of his decision

What ever difficulties my be presented by the
Secretary's interpretation of the Act and regul ati ons,
no operator is free to take the lawinto its own hands
by deciding for itself what the | aw neans and how it
can best be appli ed.

| take note of the fact that Judge Merlin based his "high"
negligence finding on his belief that the nine operator engaged
in "egregious and cl andestine conduct” and "chose to act in
secret until the Secretary found out", 12 FMSHRC 1146. In the
instant case, | find no evidence of such conduct on the part of
the respondent. Although |I have concluded that M. Prater and M.
Kendrick's interpretation of the cited standard was erroneous,
find no evidence that they deliberately sought to avoid
conpliance. | take note of the fact that MSHA' s August 31, 1987,
policy bulletin acknow edges that it was issued in response to
m ne operator uncertainty concerning the reporting of an
occupational illness. |I also note that subsequent MSHA Part 50
reporting policy letters, which becane effective on Septenber 6,
1991, and May 6, 1992, do not contain any statements informng
m ne operators to report to MSHA within 10 days of beconi ng aware
of a diagnosis of pneunpconisis. Under all of these
circumst ances, | conclude and find that the violation in this
case was the result of the respondent's failure to exercise
reasonabl e care to insure conpliance and that this constitutes
ordi nary negligence.

Civil Penalty Assessnent

Taking into consideration all of the civil penalty
assessment criteria found in section 110(i) of the Act, |
conclude and find that a civil penalty assessnment of $20 is
reasonabl e and appropriate for the violation which | have
af firnmed.

ORDER

The respondent |'S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessnent
in the anount of $20, for the section 104(a) non-"S&S" Citation
No. 3509275, March 20, 1991, 30 C.F.R 0O 50.20(a). Payment is to
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be made to MSHA within thirty (30) days of this decision and
order, and upon receipt of paynment, this matter is dism ssed.

CGeorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



